Fri 10/4/2013 3:46 PM

Supreme Court No.

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

KATHRYN SCRIVENER,

Petitioner,

v.

CLARK COLLEGE,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sue-Del McCulloch WSBA #32667 111 SW Columbia Street, Suite 1010 Portland, OR 97201 (503) 221-9706 Sdmcculloch@sdmlaw.net

Attorney for Petitioner

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER				
B.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION				
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
D.	STATEMEN	Т OF CASE			
	1. Factua a. b.	Clark College's President asserted in his formal policy address that the College needed to hire "younger talent."			
	c.	for the tenure track positions despite Scrivener's superior experience			
	2. Proceed	dural Background			
	a.	Proceedings in Superior Court4			
	b.	The Court of Appeals Decision 5			
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 6				
	1. Summary	of Argument6			
		direct conflict between a Division I Court of Appeals this Division II ruling			
	3. The Court of Appeals Opinion undermines an established legal standard and involves an issue of substantial public interest9				

	a. The Court of Appeals Opinion is contrary to the purpose of the WLAD
	b. McDonnell Douglas framework is inappropriate for summary judgment analysis in this employment discrimination case and creates an improper "but for standard
	i. Scrivener introduced direct evidence of discrimination
	ii. The statements of the decision maker regarding hiring policy were not "stray comments."
	c. Division II erroneously relied on self-serving declarations from the defense witnesses
	d. Division II erred in weighing evidence 16
F.	REQUEST FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES
G.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Allison v. Housing. Authority of City of Seattle,
118 Wash.2d 79, 821 P.2d 34 (1991)
Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co.,
123 Wn.2d 93, 864 P.2d 937 (1994)
Costa v. Desert Palace, Inc.,
299 F.3d 838 (9th Cir. 2002) (en banc),
aff'd, 539 U.S. 90, 123 S.Ct. 2148, 156 L.Ed.2d 84 (2003) 11, 13
Fulton v. State, Dept. of Social & Health Services,
169 Wn.App. 137, 279 P.3d 500 (2012)
Hill v. BCTI-Fund-I,
144 Wn.2d 172, 23 P.3d 440 (2001),
abrogated on other grounds11, 14
Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry,
127 Wash.2d 302, 898 P.2d 284 (1995)
Marquis v. City of Spokane,
130 Wash.2d 97, 922 P.2d 43 (1996)
McClarty v. Totem Elec.,
157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006)
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green,
411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817 (1973) 6,7,8,10,11,12,13,14
Metoyer v. Chassman
504 F.3d 919 (9th Cir. 2007)

Phillips v. City of Seattle,
111 Wn.2d 903, 766 P.2d 1099 (1989)
Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Products, Inc.,
530 U.S. 133, 120 S. Ct. 2097 (2000)
Rice v. Offshore Sys., Inc.,
167 Wn. App. 77, 272 P.3d 865,
rev. den'd, 174 Wn.2d 1016 (2012)
Riley v. Andres,
107 Wash.App. 391, 27 P.3d 618 (2001)
State v. Tucker,
32 Wn.App. 83, 645 P.2d 711 (1982)
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 49.60 (WLAD)
RCW. 49.60.010
RCW 49.60.02010
RCW 49.60.030(2)17
RCW 49.60.1809
Regulations and Rules
RAP13.4 (b)(4)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 18.1
Other Authorities - Washington Pattern Jury Instructions
WPI Civil 1.03

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Kathryn Scrivener, appellant in the Court of

Appeals and the plaintiff in the Clark County Superior Court proceeding.

B. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Scrivener seeks review of the published decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals in *Scrivener v. Clark College*, No. 43051-7-II, ___ Wn.App. __ , __P.3d __ , 2013 WL 4746854 (September 4, 2013). A copy is attached hereto as <u>Appendix A</u>.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Court should accept review from Division II of the Court of Appeals decision upholding the Superior Court's grant of Defendant's motion for summary judgment on Ms. Scrivener's claim of age discrimination under the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) because:

- 1. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2), Division II's decision conflicts with Division I's opinion in *Rice v. Offshore Sys., Inc.*, 167 Wn. App. 77,272 P.3d 865, *rev. den'd*, 174 Wn.2d 1016 (2012), thereby creating a split in the Divisions of the Courts of Appeals; and
- 2. Pursuant to RAP13.4 (b)(4), Division II's decision effectively abrogates the substantial factor standard in employment

discrimination cases, and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. Factual Background
 - a. Clark College's President asserted in his formal policy address that the College needed to hire "younger talent."

In fall of 2005, Clark College posted two open tenure track teaching positions within the College's English Department. Ms.

Scrivener, a full time temporary English instructor at the College, applied for the positions. Then College President Dr. Wayne Branch made final faculty hiring decisions. CP 2 (Declaration of R. Wayne Branch in Support of Motion, ¶5). In his "State of the College" address in January 2006, in the midst of the hiring process for the two tenure track openings in the College's English Department, College President Branch, the final decision maker on hiring, asserted that the College had a "glaring need" for "younger talent" under forty on the faculty. CP 24 (Ex.3, p. 10 to Dec. of Branch). In a public forum discussing the posting for the two tenure track openings in the College's English Department, President Branch stated that he opposed having any minimum experience requirement for applicants for the positions. CP 109-110 (Scrivener Depo. 71:21-72:9, Ex. 1 to Dec. of McCulloch).

b. Clark College hired younger applicants over Scrivener for the tenure track positions despite Scrivener's superior experience.

Ms. Scrivener had been employed by Clark College since 1994. She was hired as a part time English teacher and went to full time in 1999. CP 106 (Scrivener Depo. 13:19-22, Ex. 1 to Dec. of McCulloch). She had been awarded year-long contracts as a full time temporary English instructor every academic year since 1999, but there was no guarantee of renewed contracts. CP 101 (Declaration of Scrivener in Support of Opposition, ¶1). Ms. Scrivener is presently 61 years old. CP 101 (Dec. of Scrivener, ¶3).

Ms. Scrivener applied for the two open positions. Hires were made for both positions through a single application process. CP 32 (Dec of Williams in Support of Motion, ¶10). Ms. Scrivener was one of the top applicants for the positions, and her name was one of four forwarded from the hiring committee for a final interview with the decision maker, President Branch, and his Vice President of Instruction. CP 32 (Dec. of Williams, ¶10). Ms. Scrivener was a much more experienced instructor than either of the younger applicants the College hired. CP 46-57 (Ex. 5 to Dec. of Williams). Ms. Scrivener possessed all of the qualifications listed as "desirable" on the recruitment announcement for the positions, unlike the two young, successful applicants who lacked the "computer assisted and/or distance education" experience sought in the position posting. CP

37 (Ex.1, p. 2 to Dec. of Williams); CP 101 (Dec. of Scrivener, ¶2); CP 8-10 (Ex. 1 to Dec. of Branch).

When Ms. Scrivener interviewed with President Branch and Vice President Thornburg on May 11, 2006, she was nearly 54 years old. CP 101 (Dec. of Scrivener, ¶3). The same day as her interview, the College informed Ms. Scrivener that it had selected two (much younger) applicants for the positions and that both had accepted. CP 101 (Dec. of Scrivener, ¶3).

c. Clark College under President Branch hired predominantly individuals under 40 years old for tenure track faculty positions in 2005-06.

17 faculty positions were filled in 2005-06: four temporary positions and 13 tenure track. While three of the hires for the four temporary positions were 40 years old or over, only four of the 13 hires for the more desirable, protected tenure track positions (approximately 30%) were 40 or over. CP 43-44 (*Ex.4 to Dec. of Williams*)

2. Procedural Background

a. Proceedings in Superior Court

On July 13, 2009, Ms. Scrivener filed a lawsuit against Clark College alleging that the College illegally used age as a substantial factor in its hiring decision for two open tenure track teaching positions in violation of R.C.W. 49.60, the Washington Law Against Discrimination ("WLAD"). CP 122-25. Clark College filed a summary judgment motion on August 30, 2011, taking the position that Ms. Scrivener could not show

that the non-discriminatory reasons presented by the College for its hiring decision were pretextual and that statements regarding age made by the decision maker were mere "stray comments." Ms. Scrivener asserted in her response that the trial court should deny Clark College's summary judgment motion because Ms. Scrivener raised a question of fact whether age was a substantial factor in the hirings, violating the WLAD, and that statements of policy made in a formal annual address by Clark College President Wayne Branch calling for 'younger talent' clearly were not stray comments. CP 87-100.

The Superior Court granted Clark College's summary judgment motion on January 5, 2012. CP 117-118. The Order does not include any findings of fact or conclusions of law, or any other indication of the basis for the trial court's decision. *Id.*

b. The Court of Appeals Decision

Ms. Scrivener appealed the Superior Court's dismissal of her claim, arguing that at the third prong of the burden shifting analysis, she need only demonstrate a reasonable inference that age discrimination played "a substantial factor" in Clark College's hiring decisions to defeat summary judgment. *Opening Brief of Appellant*. Clark College responded that an age discrimination plaintiff defending against a summary judgment motion must prove that all reasons put forth by the employer are untrue, mere pretext for discrimination, notwithstanding the substantial factor standard applicable at trial. *Respondent's Answering Brief, p. 23*. Ms.

Scrivener replied that she had successfully raised a question of fact as to whether age was a substantial factor in the College's hiring decisions for the tenure track positions, which was sufficient to show that the College's proffered reasons were not the only reasons and the statement that these were the only considerations was untrue and therefore summary judgment was inappropriate. *Reply Brief of Appellant, p. 7*.

Division II upheld the Superior Court's summary dismissal of Ms. Scrivener's age complaint, holding: that the *McDonnell Douglas* burden shifting framework was applicable to this case and Ms. Scrivener failed to show pretext (*Opinion*, p. 5-6); that the substantial factor standard was a standard of proof for the finder of fact not applicable at summary judgment (*Opinion* p.8-9); and that the formal statements regarding the need to hire younger employees made by the hiring decision maker, President Branch, in his annual published State of the College address were "stray comments." *Opinion*, p. 9-10. In so deciding, the Court of Appeals relied exclusively on the declarations of the decision maker and his assistant. *Opinion*, p. 7.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. Summary of Argument

Division II's opinion directly contradicts another Court of Appeals ruling and undermines Washington's well-established substantial factor standard in employment discrimination cases. The Opinion also improperly relies on self-serving declarations of interested witnesses to

resolve a question of fact, improperly weighs credibility and errs in deciding that discriminatory, ageist comments made by the decision maker were "stray remarks," and inappropriately applies the *McDonnell Douglas* burden shifting framework.

2. There is a direct conflict between a Division I Court of Appeals ruling and this Division II ruling.

It is well settled that the standard of proof for an age discrimination claim under Washington law is whether age was a substantial factor in the challenged decision, even if there were other reasons supporting the decision. "To prevail on a WLAD claim, a plaintiff in Washington must prove that age was a 'substantial factor' in an adverse employment action." Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302, 310, 898 P.2d 284 (1995). The central importance of the substantial factor standard was reflected in the ruling of Division I of the Court of Appeals on an age discrimination claim brought under the WLAD. Rice v. Offshore Systems, Inc., 167 Wn.App. 77, 272 P.3d 865 (2012). Rice applied the McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting framework to analyze a summary judgment motion. Noting that both parties had stipulated that the plaintiff had established a prima facie case and the defendant employer had offered a legitimate reason for the adverse employment action, the Court stated that the remaining question, the third prong of the analysis, was whether the plaintiff could "produc[e] sufficient evidence to support a reasonable inference that a discriminatory [or] retaliatory motive was a substantial

factor in his discharge — pretext." *Id.* at 90. The holding in *Rice* recognized the fact that if there is a reasonable inference of discrimination, then there is clearly a question whether any legitimate reasons offered were the only reasons considered or were pretext for impermissibly including age as a substantial factor in the challenged decision. Any other approach to pretext ignores the substantial factor standard, pursuant to which a discriminatory motive need not be the only factor in an employment decision nor even the determinative factor, simply a substantial factor. Therefore, other factors may be part of the decision without undermining a WLAD claim.

In this case, Division II of the Court of Appeals explicitly contradicted the holding in *Rice*, stating that "[i]n our view, *Rice* confused the burden of persuasion with the burden of production, and we decline to follow its analysis here." *Opinion p. 8*. In fact, the *Rice* court correctly held that introducing evidence raising a reasonable inference that consideration of age was a substantial factor in an employment decision likewise raises a question as to whether the given reasons in the aggregate were not truly the entire basis for the employment decision, that they were not the only considerations, and that the implication they were the exclusive considerations is pretext.

This case raises an important question regarding the application of the *McDonnell Douglas* burden shifting framework to summary judgment analysis in any employment discrimination action under the WLAD, RCW 49.60.180. Division II here held that "[e]ssentially, the *Rice* court took Mackay's burden of persuasion test for triers of fact determining pretext at trial and improperly applied it to pretrial, burden of production stages. Accordingly, Scrivener's reliance on the "substantial factor" test is misplaced. Scrivener must show pretext in the initial burden of production pretrial phase." Opinion p. 8-9. Division II wrongly failed to note that under the substantial factor standard, an age discrimination claimant could prevail at trial despite the existence of a legitimate motive if age was a substantial factor in the adverse employment decision. Requiring a showing of pretext as to the offered reasons at summary judgment would make it more difficult to survive summary judgment than to prevail at trial, undermining the remedial purpose of the WLAD and the established law of Washington. Instead, as illustrated by the *Rice* holding, a discrimination plaintiff who shows a reasonable inference that illegal discrimination was a substantial factor in the decision has established pretext, that the employer's assertion that its proffered reasons were the only reasons is not believable, without having to prove that any individual given reason is pretextual.

- 3. The Court of Appeals Opinion undermines an established legal standard and involves an issue of substantial public interest.
 - a. The Court of Appeals Opinion is contrary to the purpose of the WLAD.

In enacting the WLAD, the Washington legislature issued a sweeping statement against discrimination, declaring that "practices of discrimination against any of its inhabitants" for any of the listed characteristics, including age, "are a matter of state concern, that such discrimination threatens not only the rights and proper privileges of its inhabitants but menaces the institutions and foundation of a free democratic state." RCW 49.60.010. Accordingly, the legislature directed that "the provisions of this chapter are to be liberally construed." RCW 49.60.20. This Court similarly has held that given this remedial purpose, "the statutory protections against discrimination are to be liberally construed and its exceptions narrowly confined." Phillips v. City of Seattle, 111 Wn.2d 903, 908, 766 P.2d 1099 (1989) (internal cite omitted). And see Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co., 123 Wn.2d 93, 99, 864 P.2d 937, 940 (1994), stating that "the fundamental purpose of the act, deterring discrimination" would be undermined if the statute's application was limited to Washington inhabitants.

b. McDonnell Douglas framework is inappropriate for summary judgment analysis in this employment discrimination case and creates an improper "but for" standard.

Division II's interpretation of the *McDonnell Douglas* burden shifting test places far too onerous a burden on a discrimination plaintiff. The Court erred in automatically applying a burden shifting framework and requiring the plaintiff to disprove the employer's stated reasons. The

Court relied on *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund–I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 181, 23 P.3d 440 (2001), overruled on other grounds by *McClarty v. Totem Elec.*, 157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006), for the proposition that the *McDonnell Douglas* framework should be applied in WLAD cases unless there is "direct evidence" of discrimination. Opinion, p. 6. This reasoning has been firmly rejected by the Ninth Circuit in *Costa v. Desert Palace, Inc.*, 299 F.3d 838, 855 (9th Cir. 2002) (*en banc*), aff'd, 539 U.S. 90, 123 S.Ct. 2148, 156 L.Ed.2d 84 (2003). The Ninth Circuit discusses the way a case may reach trial and the application of the *McDonnell Douglas* analysis at summary judgment:

It is important to emphasize, however, that nothing compels the parties to invoke the *McDonnell Douglas* presumption. *United States Postal Serv. Bd. v. Aikens*, 460 U.S. 711, 717, 103 S.Ct. 1478, 75 L.Ed.2d 403 (1983). Evidence can be in the form of the *McDonnell Douglas* prima facie case, or other sufficient evidence-direct or circumstantial-of discriminatory intent. *Id.* at 714 & n. 3, 717, 103 S.Ct. 1478. Thus, although *McDonnell Douglas* may be used where a single motive is at issue, this proof scheme is not the exclusive means of proof in such a case. Indeed, it also might be invoked in cases in which the defendant asserts a "same decision" defense to certain remedies, a circumstance in which mixed motives are at issue.

Costa v. Desert Palace, Inc., 299 F.3d 838, 855 (9th Cir. 2002) (en banc), affd, 539 U.S. 90, 123 S.Ct. 2148, 156 L.Ed.2d 84 (2003).

Division II's Opinion failed to recognize that approaches other than burden shifting may be more appropriate where, as in this case and indeed most employment cases, there is likely to be more than one reason for a challenged employment decision. The substantial evidence standard of review implicitly recognizes that more than one factor is usually in play in an employment decision, that there is in fact a "mixed motive," and the discriminatory consideration need only be one substantial factor in the decision, not the conclusive factor. Mackay, 127 Wn.2d at 310. In this case, Clark College's own assertions indicate that more than one motive was in play, and Ms. Scrivener pointed out on appeal that there was direct evidence of an ageist statement. Reply, p. 9-10. Thus the rigid application of the McDonnell Douglas burden shifting is misplaced, wrongly requiring the employee to adduce additional proof beyond the existence a question of fact of discrimination that the decision maker's given reasons were pretextual where the claimant could prevail at trial even if the particular reasons given were truly part of the consideration, if impermissible discrimination had been a substantial factor. This effectively would replace the substantial factor test with a "but for" test which has been repeatedly rejected by this Court for over two decades. (See e.g. Allison v. Hous. Auth. of City of Seattle, 118 Wn.2d 79, 85 & 88, 821 P.2d 34, 37 & 38 (1991), noting the WLAD's important purpose to fight discrimination and the provision which requires its liberal construction for the accomplishment of its purposes, and opining that the "but for" standard of causation would "negatively affect enforcement of the law against discrimination." See also Marquis v. City of Spokane, 130 Wn.2d 97, 114, 922 P.2d 43, 52 (1996), holding when remanding a WLAD gender

discrimination claim to the trial court that "[a]t this point, the plaintiff retains the final burden of persuading the trier of fact that discrimination was a substantial factor in the disparate treatment.")

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