NO. 89377-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KATHRYN SCRIVENER,

Petitioner,

v.

CLARK COLLEGE,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CHRISTOPHER LANESE Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 38045 OID No. 91023 P.O. Box 40126 Olympia, Washington 98504-0126 (360) 586-6300

ORIGINAL

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

RAP 13.4(b) provides for review of a Court of Appeals decision only when that decision conflicts with another Washington appellate decision, presents a significant question of law under the Constitution, or involves an issue of substantial public interest. None of these criteria apply to this case. While Ms. Scrivener contends that the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with the decision in *Rice v. Offshore Sys., Inc.*, 167 Wn. App. 77, 272 P.3d 865, *review denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1016, 281 P.3d 687 (2012), both decisions articulate substantively identical standards for what constitutes "pretext" and, in any event, Ms. Scrivener failed to create a genuine issue of material fact under any possible standard. Further, the Court of Appeals' proper application of well-established Washington law does not raise an issue of substantial public interest. Accordingly, the Court should deny review.

- A. There Is No Conflict In The Law That Ms. Scrivener Was Required To Provide Evidence Of Pretext To Survive Summary Judgment
 - 1. The Court of Appeals in this case and in *Rice* articulated and applied substantively identical pretext standards

There is no conflict in the requirement articulated by the Court of Appeals in this case and in *Rice*, 167 Wn. App. 77, that a plaintiff pursuing a discrimination claim under the Washington Law Against Discrimination, RCW 49.60, without direct evidence of discrimination must provide evidence of pretext to survive summary judgment.

As context, this pretext requirement arises under the burdenshifting scheme articulated by this Court in *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 23 P.3d 440 (2001), *overruled on other grounds by McClarty v. Totem Elec.*, 157 Wn.2d 214, 228, 137 P.3d 844 (2006). In employment discrimination suits, such as this case, where the plaintiff lacks direct evidence of discriminatory intent, Washington courts employ a burden-shifting scheme to rule on summary judgment motions. *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 180. Under this scheme, the plaintiff bears the initial burden of establishing a prima facie case of discrimination. *Id.* at 181. If the plaintiff establishes a prima facie case, the burden shifts to the defendant to articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action at issue. *Id.* After the defendant articulates such a reason, the burden shifts back to the plaintiff to demonstrate that the stated reason was pretext for discrimination. *Id.* at 182. If the plaintiff demonstrates pretext, summary judgment should be denied if the record contains reasonable but competing inferences of discrimination and nondiscrimination. *Id.* at 186-90.

In this case, the College moved for summary judgment and both parties agreed that Ms. Scrivener had established a prima facie case and that the College had articulated a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action at issue—not hiring Ms. Scrivener for a tenure-track faculty position. CP 80, 93. The issue thus was whether Ms. Scrivener had established pretext. *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 182.

In concluding that Ms. Scrivener had not established pretext in this case, the Court of Appeals articulated the following pretext standard:

To show pretext, a plaintiff must show that the defendant's articulated reasons (1) had no basis in fact, (2) were not really motivating factors for its decision, (3) were not temporally connected to the adverse employment action, or (4) were not motivating factors in employment decisions for other employees in the same circumstances.

Scrivener v. Clark College, 176 Wn. App. 405, 309 P.3d 613, 617 (2013).

Washington courts consistently relied upon this pretext standard for over two decades, since it was first articulated in *Sellsted v. Washington Mut. Sav. Bank*, 69 Wn. App. 852, 860 n.14, 851 P.2d 716 (1993), review denied 122 Wn.2d 1018, 863 P.2d 1352 (1993), overruled on other grounds by Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302, 898 P.2d 284 (1995). The lineage of authority the Court of Appeals relied upon in this case can be traced back to *Sellsted*.²

Similarly, the Court of Appeals in *Rice*, which Ms. Scrivener claims articulated a pretext standard that conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision in her case, directly quoted *Sellsted*'s articulation of the pretext standard:

An employee can show that the employer's proffered reason is pretextual in several ways: "(1) the company's reasons have no basis in fact; or (2) if they have a basis in fact, by showing that they were not really motivating factors; or (3) if they are factors, by showing they were jointly insufficient to motivate the adverse employment

² See Scrivener, 309 P.3d at 617, citing Fulton v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 169 Wn. App. 137, 161, 279 P.3d 500 (2012), citing Kuyper v. State, 79 Wn. App. 732, 738-39, 904 P.2d 793 (1995), review denied 129 Wn.2d 1011, 917 P.2d 130 (1996), citing Sellsted, 69 Wn. App. at 859-60 n.14.

decision, [e.g.], the proffered reason was so removed in time that it was unlikely to be the cause or the proffered reason applied to other employee[s] with equal or greater force and the company made a different decision with respect to them."

Rice, 167 Wn. App. at 89-90 (quoting Sellsted, 69 Wn. App. at 859 n.14).

Other than stylistic differences in wording, there is no substantive difference between this standard and that articulated by the Court of Appeals in the present case. Thus, there is no conflict between the pretext standard applied in this case and *Rice*. In fact, Ms. Scrivener does not even contend that there is any such conflict.

Instead, Ms. Scrivener focuses on dicta from *Rice* summarizing the question at issue in that case:

The central dispute here is whether Rice met his burden of producing sufficient evidence to support a reasonable inference that a discriminatory retaliatory motive was a substantial factor in his discharge—pretext.

Rice, 167 Wn. App. at 90. Ms. Scrivener argued to the Court of Appeals in her case that this isolated summary, which lacked any citation to authority, substantively altered the pretext standard articulated by the *Rice* court in just the preceding paragraph. While the Court of Appeals did state that it declined to follow the *Rice* analysis, the court ultimately applied the pretext standard quoted above, which was substantively identical to the standard actually articulated and applied in *Rice*. Ms. Scrivener appears to contend that by relying upon the decadesold pretext standard rather than the uncited dicta in *Rice*, the Court of Appeals required her to directly attack the articulated reasons for the hiring decision rather allowing her to present evidence of discriminatory intent unrelated to the articulated reasons for the hiring decision. In other words, Ms. Scrivener argues that by requiring her to show pretext, the Court of Appeals imposed a "but for," rather than a "substantial factor," standard of causation.

Ms. Scrivener is incorrect. The pretext standard applied by the Court of Appeals in this case, as well as in *Rice*, is broad enough to encompass evidence of discriminatory intent that does not directly attack the articulated reason for the employment action. Further, if the Court of Appeals had actually required Ms. Scrivener to directly attack that articulated reason, then the Court of Appeals would have had no need to analyze Ms. Scrivener's alleged evidence of pretext, because none of that evidence related to the College's articulated reasons for the promotion decision—the relative teaching abilities of the candidates. Instead, the Court of Appeals carefully considered that evidence over several pages of thoughtful analysis. 309 P.3d at 617-20. Accordingly, there is no conflict between this case and *Rice*.

12

2. Ms. Scrivener's claim failed as a matter of law under any possible pretext standard

The fact that Ms. Scrivener failed to establish pretext under any possible standard further demonstrates that there is no conflict between this case and *Rice*. In her Petition for Review, Ms. Scrivener focuses her pretext argument on comments Dr. Branch made during his January 2006 State of the College address. In particular, Ms. Scrivener focuses on the following passage:

Long before my arrival, the College held Respect for Differences as one of its core values. And that his value also become one of the College's mission imperatives by way of our Strategic Plan highlights the recognition that respect for differences is a skill essential to success in today's workforce. As Sylvia Thornburg, Acting Vice President for Instruction, put it during our last management team meeting, "Exposure to dealing with persons – student colleagues or staff – of different cultures or life experiences is of value. Conversely, the absence of such exposure to multi-cultural, multi-ethnic, multi-dimensional viewpoints is a gap in the education of anyone expected to operate successfully in an increasingly multicultural environment or a global economy."

And though 19% of our student body represents some form of ethnic diversity, only 12.2% of our workforce brings diversity to college community. And when we examine our faculty, only 9.6% of that critical aspect of the learning enterprise brings diversity to the experiences of student at Clark College. Yet perhaps the most glaring need for increased diversity is in our need for younger talent. 74% of Clark College's workforce is over forty. And though I have a great affinity for people in this age group, employing people who bring different perspectives will only benefit our college and community. CP at 24. These comments do not indicate any age-related animus, they occurred months before the hiring decision at issue, and they are unrelated to Ms. Scrivener and the positions at issue in this case. Thus, the Court of Appeals appropriately held that Dr. Branch's comments affirming a commitment to, and a desire to increase, diversity, including generational diversity, constituted a "stray" comment that does not give rise to an inference of discriminatory intent. 309 P.3d at 618-19. In so holding, the Court of Appeals reached a result consistent with prior Washington authority.³

Ms. Scrivener contends that the Court of Appeals erred in reaching this conclusion, but she cites no authority for this proposition. Petition for Review at 15. That is because there is no such authority—without more, comments affirming a commitment to, and a desire to increase, diversity are simply not evidence that a protected characteristic was a substantial

³ Domingo v. Boeing Emps'. Credit Union, 124 Wn. App. 71, 90, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004) (holding that employer's comment that the plaintiff was "no longer a spring chicken," even if "the comment were seen as circumstantial evidence of age discrimination, . . . creates such a weak issue of fact that no rational trier of fact could conclude that BECU fired Domingo because of her age"); *Kirby v. City of Tacoma*, 124 Wn. App. 454, 467 & n.10, 98 P.3d 827 (2004) (holding that "references to older officers as the 'old guard' and getting 'gray-haired old captains to leave" did not establish pretext because "stray remarks, . . . when unrelated to the decisional process, are insufficient to demonstrate that the employer relied on illegitimate criteria, even when such comments are made by the decision-maker in issue" (quotation marks omitted)), *review denied* 154 Wn.2d 1007, 114 P.3d 1198 (2005); *Griffith v. Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc.*, 128 Wn. App. 438, 458, 115 P.3d 1065 (2005) ("If workplace comments do not pertain to an individual's qualifications as an employee, they are 'stray remarks' that have no bearing in a claim for employment discrimination."), *review denied* 156 Wn.2d 1027, 133 P.3d 473 (2006).

factor in a hiring decision. There are numerous ways to increase diversity without taking unlawful factors into consideration when making hiring decisions. Employers can direct recruiting efforts towards diverse candidates and implement diversity programs that make their organization more attractive to diverse candidates and retain current employees who offer diversity. In fact, the mere act of making comments such as those made by Dr. Branch can help increase diversity through attracting and retaining diverse individuals by making it clear that an organization values diversity. It is for these reasons that courts that have considered arguments such as those advanced by Ms. Scrivener have routinely rejected that such comments constitute evidence of pretext.⁴ Further, to the extent Ms. Scrivener is suggesting that the government cannot

⁴ Bissett v. Beau Rivage Resorts Inc., 442 Fed. Appx. 148, 152-53 (5th Cir. 2011) (holding that statements that employer "value[s] diversity and consider[s] it an important and necessary tool that will enable us to maintain a competitive edge," and that employer "is committed to maintaining a workforce that reflects the diversity of the community" were not evidence of pretext.); Plumb v. Potter, 212 Fed. Appx. 472, 477 & 481 (6th Cir. 2007) (holding that comment of "that's what we need in the VMF, a little more diversity" was not evidence of pretext); Altizer v. City of Roanoke, No. 02-484, 2003 WL 1456514, at *4 (W.D. Va. 2003) ("Gaskins' concern about the lack of diversity in the Department's ranks is not evidence of discriminatory animus. Nor is the fact that Gaskins thought it important to recruit and prepare minorities for promotion. That evidence says nothing about Gaskins willingness to promote a candidate because that candidate is an African-American. In fact, the expression of those concerns may have the salutary effect of an announcement that a predominately white, male institution will conduct itself as an equal opportunity employer."), aff'd, 78 Fed. Appx. 301 (4th Cir. 2003). Where they are not inconsistent with Washington law, federal authorities are persuasive authority in interpreting Washington employment discrimination law. Hill v. BCTI, 144 Wn.2d at 180. Citation to unpublished federal opinions is permitted. GR 14.1(b); Fed. R. App. P. 32.1. Pursuant to GR 14.1, a copy of Altizer is attached to this Answer.

consider diversity as an important goal in its operations, such a position would be contrary to public policy.⁵

In summary, Ms. Scrivener has failed to present a conflict of authority. The Court of Appeals in this case and in *Rice* articulated substantively identical pretext standards, and dismissal was appropriate under any possible standard. Accordingly, the Court should deny review.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Consistent With Well-Settled Washington Law And Does Not Raise Any Issue Of Substantial Public Interest

1. The Court of Appeals properly applied the burdenshifting analysis, which Ms. Scrivener consented to

Ms. Scrivener now argues for the first time that the Court of Appeals erroneously forced her to prove her case through the burdenshifting analysis articulated by this Court in *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d 172. Yet Ms. Scrivener never raised this issue before the trial court, where she agreed that the burden-shifting analysis applies. CP at 92 (stating in opposition brief that "Washington courts have adopted the burden-shifting framework established in *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817 (1973)" and opposing summary judgment based on that framework). She cannot raise this issue for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a), 9.12. Further, it is well-settled that burden-shifting is the appropriate analysis

⁵ See GR 12.1 (identifying "promot[ing] diversity" as a goal of the WSBA).

for summary judgment motions where the plaintiff lacks direct evidence of discrimination. *Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., Inc.*, 162 Wn.2d 340, 354, 172 P.3d 688 (2007) ("Disparate treatment claims based on circumstantial evidence are evaluated according to the three-step, burdenshifting protocol articulated by the United States Supreme Court in *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792, 802–04, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973); *see also Hill BCTI Income Fund–I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 180, 23 P.3d 440 (2001).").

Ms. Scrivener also contends that she provided direct evidence of discrimination—Dr. Branch's State of the College address—that obviated the need to proceed under the burden-shifting analysis. Again, Ms. Scrivener failed to raise this issue before the trial court—she never argued that she had presented direct evidence of discrimination and instead argued that she was "not required to produce 'direct'" evidence, CP at 94. Further, Dr. Branch's address does not constitute direct evidence of discrimination. Direct evidence is evidence which, if believed, proves the fact of discriminatory animus without inference or presumption. *Coghlan v. Am. Seafoods Co.*, 413 F.3d 1090, 1095 (2005); *Stork v. Int'l Bazaar, Inc.*, 54 Wn. App. 274, 281, 774 P.2d 22 (1989) ("In the present case, there was some direct evidence of age discrimination by the defendants against Stork. The trial court found that 'more likely than not' Hong told

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